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NON-CONFIDENTIAL VERSION

COMMONWEALTH OF AUSTRALIA 

Competition and Consumer Act 2010 (Cth)

IN THE AUSTRALIAN COMPETITION TRIBUNAL

File Number: ACT 3 of 2021

File Title: APPLICATION FOR REVIEW OF MERGER AUTHORISATION MA 1000020

DETERMINATION MADE ON 9 SEPTEMBER 2021

Applicant: Controlabill Pty Ltd

AFFIDAVIT

I, Robert Ian Milliner, of Apartment 1204B, 296 Victoria Parade, East Melbourne, in the State of

Victoria, 3002, say on oath:

1. lam the Chairperson of the Industry Committee (IC), the unincorporated association which is the 

applicant for the authorisation that is the subject of these proceedings.

2. I make this affidavit in relation to the interlocutory application which I caused to be filed on 

6 October 2021 for an order that the application for review be dismissed on the ground that the 

applicant, Controlabill Pty Ltd (Controlabill), is not a person with a sufficient interest within the 

meaning of s 101(1 AA)(b) of the Competition and Consumer Act 2010 (Cth).

3. I have personal knowledge of the facts and matters referred to in this affidavit, except where 

otherwise indicated. Where I refer to information that is not within my personal knowledge, I 

identify the source of the information and believe it to be true.

Filed on behalf of Mr Robert Milliner in his capacity as Chairperson of 
Industry Committee, an unincorporated association
Prepared by Sharon Henrick
Law firm KING & WOOD MALLESONS
TEL (02) 9296 2294 Fax (02) 9296 3999
Email Sharon.Henrick@au.kwm.com
Address for service
Level 61, Governor Phillip Tower, 1 Farrer Place, Sydney NSW 200

mailto:Sharon.Henrick@au.kwm.com
ECallinan
ACT Stamp
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Confidentiality claims

4. Parts of this affidavit are the subject of confidentiality claims, the basis for which is explained 

below at [34]-[35]. The parts of this affidavit which are the subject of such claims are identified 

by grey highlighting (for example, [sample text]) in the “Confidential” version of this affidavit and 

are redacted in the “Non-Confidential” version of this affidavit.

My background

5. In addition to my role as Chairperson of the IC, I hold a number of other appointments. I am 

Chairman of the Australian Payments Council, which is comprised of representatives of financial 

institutions, card schemes, retailers and payment services providers, as well as the Australian 

Payments Network and the Reserve Bank of Australia (RBA). Its purpose is to foster the ongoing 

development of the Australian payments system to ensure that system continues to meet the 

changing needs of Australian businesses and consumers with innovative, safe and competitive 

payment services.

6. I am an independent director of AusNet Services Ltd (a large Australian energy company), a Senior 

Adviser at UBS and a Senior Adviser to the Secretary-General of the International Chamber of 

Commerce. I am an Honorary Member of the Business Council of Australia and a member of the 

APEC Business Advisory Council.

7. I have been an independent director of the Global Infrastructure Hub Ltd (an initiative of the G20) 

and a Chairman of the Board of the Foundation for Young Australians.

8. Between 2004 and 2011,1 was Chief Executive Partner of Mallesons Stephen Jaques. In that role, 

I led the alliance of Mallesons Stephen Jaques with King & Wood on behalf of the Mallesons 

Stephen Jaques partnership. Prior to serving as Chief Executive Partner, I practised as a partner at 

Mallesons Stephen Jaques between 1984 and 2004, primarily in the areas of project finance, where 

I worked on privatisations of energy and resources infrastructure as well as other transactions.

9. I hold a Bachelor of Commerce and Bachelor of Laws (with Honours) from the University of 

Queensland and a Master of Business Administration from the University of Western Australia.

I have also participated in the Advanced Management Program at Harvard Business School.
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Risks to completion of proposed amalgamation

10. Prior to Controlabill’s application to the Tribunal, it was my expectation that the proposed 

amalgamation of BPAY Group Holding Pty Ltd (BPAY Holding), EFTPOS Payments Australia 

Ltd (EPAL) and NPP Australia Ltd (NPPA) under Australian Payments Plus Ltd (AP+) would 

complete on 16 December 2021. Under my direction and supervision, and the direction and 

supervision of the IC, now known as the Transaction Advisory Committee (TAC), necessary steps 

were being taken to enable completion to occur on that date, including:

a. preparing for, and convening, meetings of shareholders and members to pass the necessary 

resolutions to be filed with the Australian Securities and Investments Commission to allow 

completion to occur;

b. searching for and selecting, with the assistance of an independent recruitment firm, an 

independent Chairperson and directors for the amalgamating companies and their new 

holding company, having regard to assurances given to the Australian Competition and 

Consumer Commission (Commission) about the experience in small business that would 

be held by at least one of the independent directors;

c. selecting an Independent Auditor to propose to the Commission to monitor Australian 

Payments Plus Ltd’s compliance with the section 87B undertaking accepted by the 

Commission on 8 September 2021 as a condition of its final determination granting 

authorisation for the amalgamation;

d. undertaking ongoing development and coordination for delivering the Prescribed Services 

(which are new payments innovations) in preparation for full compliance with the section 

87B undertaking referred to in paragraph c. above. The section 87B undertaking requires 

some of the Prescribed Services (Service 2. Business to business (B2B), business to 

consumer (B2C) and peer to peer (P2P) payments and Service 3. Industry wide supporting 

capabilities and standards) to be made available by the Control Date (being the date of 

completion of the amalgamation). Other Prescribed Services are to be mandated in the first 

half of 2022 (including, for example, Services 4 and 5. Remote Payments);

e. commencing work on a draft Independent Audit Plan for the Independent Auditor to 

approve and to place before the Commission for approval, having regard to the timetable 

in the section 87B undertaking;
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f. communicating with employees about what the amalgamation would likely mean for them 

and how coordinated service delivery would be implemented, including the co-location of 

the three amalgamating companies into one premises (which had been planned to be 

implemented during December 2021); and

g. communicating with stakeholders, including shareholders of the amalgamating companies, 

industry bodies and government agencies, about what the amalgamation would likely mean 

for them and the future development of existing and new payments services.

11. I regard the communications with employees referred to in paragraph 10. f. above and stakeholders 

referred to in paragraph 10. g. above as being critical for providing certainty to those persons 

regarding the services and operations of each of the amalgamating companies and AP+, subject to 

the amalgamation being authorised.

12. Based on my experience outlined above at [5]-[9], if there is real uncertainty about when 

completion will occur, or if it will occur:

a. employees and officers may resign to take up positions at other employers who can offer 

them greater certainty. This is especially so when there are other factors at work creating 

substantial emotional upheaval for people such as the COVID-19 pandemic; and

b. stakeholders, including government agencies and shareholders, may be unable to, or be 

hindered in, their ability to progress currently contemplated plans for regulatory reform 

and investments in currently proposed and new innovations for payments systems.

13. Further, based on my experience, resignations by some employees and/or officers can compound 

the uncertainty and cause others to be become less certain about their future and more likely to 

resign.

14. I have consistently found that resignations, especially of key people, have flow-on detrimental 

impacts on the operations of the relevant business and its services, as well as on its people.
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15. The factors outlined above cause me to be concerned that the proposed amalgamation will not be 

able to proceed at all if certainty about the timeframe for completion cannot be expeditiously 

achieved. I believe that not completing the proposed amalgamation would result in a net detriment 

to the public of Australia, including and especially because the public of Australia will not obtain 

a more innovative payments industry better placed to keep up with the threats from global payments 

companies.

Investment in agreeing the proposed amalgamation

16. A substantial amount of investment of time and senior human resources went into reaching 

agreement to amalgamate BPAY Holding, EPAL and NPPA under a newly formed holding 

company. The process commenced before 31 July 2020, when the first meeting of the IC was 

convened to test a hypothesis about the potential benefits of amalgamating the three companies 

under a newly fonned holding company.

17. Eleven shareholders and members, as the case may be, appointed senior executives to represent 

them on the IC. In addition, the Chief Executive Officers of each of BPAY Holding, EPAL and 

NPPA and a senior representative of the RBA were appointed as observers to the IC. A list setting 

out the names of those executives and senior representatives is annexed to this affidavit and marked

“Confidential Exhibit RM.l”.

18. The IC met every week for up to 2 hours at a time until 15 December 2020.

19. In addition to the weekly meetings, I am aware from communications with members of the IC, that 

there were numerous other meetings and communications between members of the IC and their 

respective employers that were necessary to allow the hypothesis to be properly tested and for 

eventual agreement to proceed with the amalgamation of BPAY Holding, EPAL and NPPA under 

a newly fonned holding company, subject to the Commission authorising the amalgamation.

20. By 29 January 2021, the IC had become known as the TAC. Since that time, the TAC has met on 

or around 20 occasions, with each meeting lasting for up to 2 hours.
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21. In addition to the meetings, there were numerous other meetings and communications between 

members of the TAC and their respective employers that were necessary to allow, for example, the 

application for authorisation to the Commission to be progressed.

22. The meetings and communications referred to in the preceding paragraphs represent a substantial 

investment by all of those involved - members and observers of the IC and TAC, their respective 

advisors as well as their employers - over approximately an 18-month period. The process 

described above at [16]-[21] was undertaken consistent with the announcement of policies of the 

RBA as reflected, for example, in Armexure 5 of the IC’s application for authorisation and the 

Federal Government’s policy for greater innovation in Australia’s payments sector [Non- 

Confidential Exhibit RM.2].

23. In addition, the Commission conducted a transparent and public review of the application over a 

120-day period during which it consulted widely and published a Statement of Preliminary Views 

on 4 June 2021, before undertaking further consultations and publishing its Final Determination on 

9 September 2021.

Implementation Deed
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NPPA’s Accounts

33. Annexed and marked “Non-Confidential Exhibit RM.3” is a copy of NPPA’s Annual Report for 

2020-2021. The report has been obtained from NPPA’s website <https://nppa.com.au/the- 

company/go vemance/>.

Basis for confidentiality claims

35. I make a confidentiality claim in respect of the shaded portions of my evidence above as well as 

Confidential Exhibits RM. 1 and RM.3 because that evidence is confidential to IC, and its disclosure 

may result in harm to the commercial interests of IC, NPPA, EPAL, BPAY Holding and their 

shareholders and members as the case may be.

)
)
) ....................................................................................
) Signature of deponent
)

Sworn by the deponent 
at Melbourne 
in Victoria
on 19 November 2021 
Before me:

Signature of witness 

Name of witness:

https://nppa.com.au/the-company/go_vemance/
https://nppa.com.au/the-company/go_vemance/
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COMMONWEALTH OF AUSTRALIA 

Competition and Consumer Act 2010 (Cth)

IN THE AUSTRALIAN COMPETITION TRIBUNAL

File Number: ACT 3 of 2021 -

File Title: APPLICATION FOR REVIEW OF MERGER AUTHORISATION MA 1000020

DETERMINATION MADE ON 9 SEPTEMBER 2021

Applicant: Controlabill Pty Ltd

Non°Confidentia5 Exhibit RM.2

This is the exhibit referred to as Non-Confidential Exhibit RM.2 in the affidavit of ROBERT IAN 

MILLINER, sworn 19 November 2021

Before me:.................................................................

Filed on behalf of Mr Robert Milliner in his capacity as Chairperson of Industry Committee, an 
unincorporated association

Prepared by Sharon Henrick
Law firm KING & WOOD MALLESONS
Tel (02) 9296 2294 Fax +61 2 9296 3999
Email sharon.henrick@au.kwm.com

Address for service
Level 61 Governor Phillip Tower, 1 Farrer Place, Sydney NSW 2000

54854518 1

mailto:sharon.henrick@au.kwm.com
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30 August 2021

Review of Australia's payments system
Joint media release with 

Senator the Hon Jane Hume
Minister for Superannuation, Financial Services and the Digital Economy 

Minister for Women's Economic Security

The Morrison Government has today released the final report of the Payments System Review, 
which considered whether the regulatory architecture of the Australian payments system is 
fit-for-purpose and responsive to advances in payments technology and changes in business 
models and consumer demand.

The review also examined how the regulatory architecture could create more 
productivity-enhancing innovation and competition, increase the understanding of alternative 
payment methods, and ensure that Australia is well-placed to take advantage of new 
technologies.

The payments ecosystem is in the midst of rapid change. New technology, business models and 
participants are transforming the old payments system. This is providing increased convenience 
and opportunities but also giving rise to greater complexity and new risks.

Against this backdrop, the final report makes 15 recommendations in three key areas.

First, the Government’s role in providing overarching strategic direction, vision and oversight 
should be enhanced with new obligations and powers to protect the payments system. The 
Government, in partnership with industry, should also establish a strategic plan for the wider 
payments ecosystem.

https://ministers.treasury.gov.au/ministers/josh-frydenberg-2018/media-releases/review-australias-payments-system 1/2

https://ministers.treasury.gov.au/ministers/josh-frydenberg-2018/media-releases/review-australias-payments-system
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Second, coordination between payment regulators should be strengthened and a functional 
perspective on payments regulation should be implemented to improve consistency and certainty 
in regulatory outcomes.

Third, a single, integrated licensing framework for payment services that scales up with 
businesses as they grow, provides clear consumer protection, and facilitates transparency in 
access to payment systems should be developed.

Promoting a more innovative and robust payments environment is part of the Morrison 
Government’s plan to build a more competitive and productive economy as we recover from the 
COVID-19 crisis.

The Government will carefully consider the recommendations and observations made in the 
review. Consultation on the recommendations will be conducted by Treasury ahead of the 
Government finalising a response before the end of the year.

The Government thanks Mr Scott Farrell for undertaking this review and the input of stakeholders 
throughout the process.

The final report is available on Treasury’s website (https://treasury.gov.au/publication/p2021- 
198587).

Treasury (https://www.treasury.gov.au)

FOI (https://www.treasury.gov.au/the-department/accountability-reporting/foi) 

Copyright (https://www.treasury.gov.au/copyright)

Disclaimer (https://www.treasury.gov.au/disclaimer)

Privacy (https://www.treasury.gov.au/privacy-statement)

Social media guidelines (https://www.treasury.gov.au/social-media-guidelines)

https://ministers.treasury.gov.au/ministers/josh-frydenberg-2018/media-releases/review-australias-payments-system 2/2

https://treasury.gov.au/publication/p2021-198587
https://treasury.gov.au/publication/p2021-198587
https://www.treasury.gov.au
https://www.treasury.gov.au/the-department/accountability-reporting/foi
https://www.treasury.gov.au/copyright
https://www.treasury.gov.au/disclaimer
https://www.treasury.gov.au/privacy-statement
https://www.treasury.gov.au/social-media-guidelines
https://ministers.treasury.gov.au/ministers/josh-frydenberg-2018/media-releases/review-australias-payments-system
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COMMONWEALTH OF AUSTRALIA 

Competition and Consumer Act 2010 (Cth)

IN THE AUSTRALIAN COMPETITION TRIBUNAL

File Number: ACT 3 of 2021

File Title: APPLICATION FOR REVIEW OF MERGER AUTHORISATION MA 1000020

DETERMINATION MADE ON 9 SEPTEMBER 2021

Applicant: Controlabill Pty Ltd

Non-Confidential Exhibit RM.3

This is the confidential exhibit referred to as Non-Confidential Exhibit RMA in the affidavit of 

ROBERT IAN MILLINER, sworn 19 November 2021

Before me:

Filed on behalf of Mr Robert Milliner in his capacity as Chairperson of Industry Committee, an 
unincorporated association

Prepared by Sharon Henrick
Law firm KING & WOOD MALLESONS
Tel (02) 9296 2294 Fax +61 2 9296 3999
Email sharon.henrick@au.kwm.com
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Level 61 Governor Phillip Tower, 1 Farrer Place, Sydney NSW 2000
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Vista
The leading open 
payments platform 
in Australia

Has ubiquitous reach 
with every transaction 
bank account 
in Australia able 
to make and receive 
NPP payments

Delivers capability 
that enables innovation, 
is reusable and 
extendable across 
all payment types 
from P2P payments 
through to B2B

Supports different 
payment types 
(including both 
credit and debit-like 
messaging) to maximise 
volume and utility 
of the platform

Provides fair and 
open access to the 
platform to ensure 
wide and diverse 
participation



Note: Transaction data Tor FY 2020/21;,sourced from RBA Payments Statistics data series c06-1-Tiist; number of participating financial institutions 
and account reach data as ot 30 June 2021; PaylD data as of 5 July 2021; number of financial institutions .accounts for organisations operating 
sub-brands/subsidiaries separately (including mergers during the period}



mp
October 2©2Q 
Roadmap

Delivering data-rich 
message standards

Structured data messages for superannuation, 
payroll, tax and e-Invoicing payments

Implemented

Pay|
Enabling third party 
payment initiation

Customer authorised payments initiated 
by third parties

In progress

Supporting international 
payments

Safer, faster inbound international payments 
with complete payer information

Coming soon
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With the NPP growing strongly, our focus 
has been on building the capability to ensure 
Australia has a national reahtime payments 
infrastructure to take it into the future.

In the past 12 months the NPP has 
continued to play an important role 
in supporting the Australian economy 
to navigate the COVID19 pandemic.

The NPP’s real-time capability 
has been critical for government 
departments making vital emergency 
relief payments, seven days a week, 
and in many cases less than an 
hour after an application has been 
being submitted. At the same time, 
the PaylD functionality has been 
used by more small businesses 
that typically rely on payment on 
demand for their survival.

NPP Australia’s vision remains 
to be ‘the leading open payments 
platform in Australia’, achieved 
through four strategic imperatives: 
reach and performance; developing 
new capabilities; driving volume; 
and supporting access and market 
participation. In the past year we 
have seen more evidence of this 
strategy’s success.

Our reach has grown substantially, 
with more than 75 million Australian 
bank accounts able to make and/ 
or receive payments via the NPP 
by the end of June 2021. Close 
to 29% of all account-to-account 
credit payments are now processed 
on the NPP. In terms of domestic

retail bank accounts, all banks in 
Australia now participate in the 
NPP apart from one regional and 
four small financial institutions.

With the NPP growing strongly, 
our focus has been on building 
the capability to ensure Australia 
has a national real-time payments 
infrastructure to take it into the 
future. PayTo is an undeniable 
centrepiece of the NPP Roadmap, 
and this year a phenomenal amount 
of work has continued to bring this 
service to life.

From a volume perspective, work 
continues to support the migration 
of Direct Entry payments to the NPP. 
We are starting to see corporates 
tap into the NPP to create better 
experiences for their customers, 
while benefiting from more efficient 
working capital management, 
access to real-time data and overall 
process efficiencies.

In terms of access and market 
participation, we continue to 
encourage broad participation 
through a range of different access 
options to suit organisations’ diverse 
needs. At the time of writing this 
report we approved our newest NPP 
Participant. During this reporting 
period, five organisations joined the 
NPP by indirectly connecting via 
a sponsoring organisation and one 
organisation by connecting directly.

In sad news, this year saw the passing 
of independent director Chloe Munro 
AO. While Chloe privately battled 
illness, she remained unflaggingly 
positive and a significant contributor 
to our Board. I would like to formally 
acknowledge her invaluable 
contribution to NPP Australia Limited 
and express deepest condolences 
to her family and friends.

I would also like to acknowledge 
the NPP Australia directors for 
their ongoing support and focus 
throughout the year. In particular, 
thank you to outgoing director Scott 
Southall for his invaluable service and 
contribution, and I welcome Linda Da 
Silva who joined us this year.

In terms of the future, an efficient, 
innovative and competitive 
Australian payments system is vital 
for consumers and businesses, 
both large and small. I am confident 
that the NPP will continue to grow 
and influence the shape of future 
Australian payments as part of 
a stronger and even more adaptive 
system under the newly created 
Australian Payments Plus, the 
new amalgamated entity of BPAY 
Group, eftpos and NPP Australia.

Bob McKinnon

2021 Annual Report | 7
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In the past financial year, the NPP 
has continued its growth trajectory.
It has processed an average of 2.1 
million daily payments worth a total 
of $759.6 billion1. This is an increase 
of 84.0% and 83.6% respectively 
from the same time last year.

We continue to onboard new 
participating organisations using the 
platform - either directly or indirectly 
- and it’s been great to see the 
regular rhythm of NPP "welcomes” 
and the positive reaction they 
receive on social media platforms 
such as Linkedln.

Nearly every week we engage 
with organisations across market 
segments such as superannuation, 
payroll and einvoicing. This includes 
cloud accounting, software providers 
and government departments 
that are developing plans or have 
already commenced using the 
NPP to improve their payments 
speed and processes.

At the close of the financial year 
there were 7.8 million PayIDs 
registered, and we’ve seen more 
businesses use PaylD during the 
COVID19 pandemic to enable 
real-time contactless payments.
We have shared some of these 
stories via social media to show 
the benefits PaylD can bring to 
the small business community.

We have fostered a flexible environment through 
which the NPP Australia team have continued 
to perform, and I am proud of how our small team 
has continued to achieve so much.

In October and April, we published 
updated NPP Roadmaps, articulating 
the capability development work that 
will shape the future of the Australian 
payments landscape.

In the April roadmap we unveiled 
PayTo as the market facing name 
of the Mandated Payments Service. 
The payments industry has reacted 
very positively to PayTo with the 
service being incorporated into 
a growing number of organisations’ 
roadmaps. These organisations 
eagerly await the introduction 
of the service, which, despite the 
challenges presented by COVID19, 
remains on track to commence roll
out from mid-2022.

At the same time, we are working 
with stakeholders in our industry 
to see how PayTo could be used to 
enable financial institutions to meet 
their potential Consumer Data Right 
obligations, something that was 
referenced in the Future Directions 
of the Consumer Data Right report.

We have continued to focus on 
delivering NPP Business Services 
which will enable organisations 
to use the NPP’s native capabilities 
to develop their own product and 
services for their customers ‘outside’ 
the Platform, driving competition 
and innovation ‘at the edges’.

From April this year, participating 
financial institutions have been 
able to receive NPP payment

messages formatted with additional 
data elements for payroll, tax, 
superannuation and e-invoicing. 
These standards define how data 
is carried with a payment to ensure 
consistent end-to-end transmission, 
which is vital for supporting 
B2B payments more likely to be 
generated by systems rather than 
by individuals.

QR Codes have experienced a 
significant uptake in acceptance 
as a key tool in our battle against 
COVID19. Ensuring the ecosystem 
is positioned well against this 
backdrop of increased use, we are 
working with the industry to ensure 
interoperability and extending our 
QR code standard to cater for 
elements such as loyalty and the 
PayTo service.

Like all businesses around the world, 
NPP Australia has continued to 
adapt to the challenging conditions 
presented by the COVID19 
pandemic. We have fostered 
a flexible environment through 
which the NPP Australia team have 
continued to perform, and I am 
proud of how our small team has 
continued to achieve so much.

Adrian Lovney

1. As reported in the RBA Payments Statistics data series c06-1-hist 2021 Annual Report | 9
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The directors present their 
report on NPP Australia Limited 
(NPPA or the Company) for 
the year ended 30 June 2021.

The names of the directors in office 
at the date of this report are set 
out’below, together with particulars 
of their qualifications, experience 
and special responsibilities.

10 fl INPP Australia Limited

____ ___________ f
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Bob McKinnon
BCom, CA, MAICD 
Chair (Independent)

Bob McKinnon’s appointment as 
Chair of NPP Australia’s Board 
of Directors commenced in January 
2019. Bob is a co-founder and 
director of Mirin Group and holds 
a number of board positions, 
including the roles of Non-executive 
Director and Chair of the Audit and 
Risk Committees at Sydney Metro, 
AMP Capital Funds Management 
and AMP Investment Services.

Having worked as Chief Information 
Officer both for Commonwealth 
Bank of Australia and Westpac 
Banking Corporation Limited, Bob 
has extensive experience in financial 
services, technology, and large-scale 
transformation initiatives. Bob has 
also held various executive leadership 
roles at Brookfield Multiplex, State 
Street and Lend Lease.

Appointed as Independent Chair 
on 21 January 2019. Member of the 
Audit Finance and Risk Committee, 
NPP Governance Committee and 
People and Culture Committee.

Adrian Lovney
LLB (Hons), MBA

Adrian Lovney is Chief Executive 
Officer of NPP Australia, having 
commenced in the position in 
September 2016. Prior to joining 
NPP Australia, Adrian was General 
Manager, Product & Service at 
Cuscal, where he was responsible 
for all product management and 
operational functions, marketing, 
sales, and client service. Adrian 
has an Honours degree in Law 
from Queensland University of 
Technology, an MBA from Melbourne 
Business School and has completed 
the Advanced Management Program 
at Harvard Business School.

Adrian is also a member of the 
Australian Payments Council.

Appointed as a director on 
5 September 2016. Member of the 
Audit, Risk and Finance Committee 
and NPP Governance Committee.

2021 Annual Report | 11
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Directors'
Report continued

Linda Da Silva
(BEcon, CPA)

Linda Da Silva has been ING 
Australia’s Chief Information 
Officer since December 2019.
Prior to this, she held a number of 
senior leadership roles at Westpac 
Banking Corporation spanning the 
Consumer Bank, Group Operations 
and Enterprise Services, including 
CIO of BT Financial Group.

Linda has held IT consulting and 
leadership roles in Australia, Asia, 
Middle East and the UK, working 
across many industries to deliver 
large-scale transformation programs. 
She holds a Bachelor of Economics 
degree and is a CPA.

Appointed as a director on 
21 October 2020. Chair of the Audit 
Finance and Risk Committee.

Nigel Dobson
BEcon

Nigel Dobson is Banking Services 
Portfolio Lead at ANZ, responsible 
for developing and implementing the 
group’s Payments platform strategy.

The Banking Services portfolio 
has responsibility for developing 
and implementing ANZ’s payment 
platform strategy, supporting the 
enterprise and ANZ’s partners. 
Banking Services is also responsible 
for delivering ANZ’s response 
to Open Banking in Australia and 
shaping ANZ’s business services 
strategy to meet the demands of 
an open data economy.

Nigel also leads the bank’s 
Blockchain strategy and associated 
activities, including fostering 
partnerships and industry pilots.
Prior to this role, Nigel spent 4 years 
in senior Transaction Banking roles 
at ANZ, including Global Head of 
Payments and Cash Management 
and Global Head of Transaction 
Banking Products. Nigel joined ANZ 
in July 2009 from Citi in Hong Kong 
where he was Regional Head of 
Trade and Transaction Services.

Nigel is also Chair of Lygon IB, 
a digital bank guarantee start
up, a member of the Australian 
Payments Council and a Fellow 
of Blockchain Australia.

12 | NPP Australia Limited
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Tony Graham
BCom

Tony joined Macquarie Group in 1998 
and is currently Head of Product and 
Technology in the Banking & Financial 
Services Group which is responsible 
for retail banking, business banking, 
wealth management and motor 
vehicle leasing.

Prior to joining Macquarie, Tony 
spent ten years as an IT Consultant 
with Accenture specialising in large 
technology change programs for 
retail financial institutions and 
government departments (taxation).

Tony currently serves as Chairman 
of the Board for Macquarie 
Equities Limited. He is a member 
of the Executive Committee for 
Macquarie’s Banking and Financial 
Services Group.

Appointed as a director on 
21 December 2019. Member of the 
Audit Finance and Risk Committee.

Elizabeth Haliett
BCom, LLB., GAICD, 
GAIST (Independent)

An experienced non-executive 
director in regulated sectors 
including in the financial services 
and infrastructure sectors, Elizabeth 
was appointed to the NPP Australia 
Board in February 2020. She is also 
a non-executive director of Sunsuper 
(a public offer superannuation 
fund with more than $90 billion 
under management), Lynch Group 
Limited (ASX : LGL), the Civil Aviation 
Safety Authority and NSW Land 
Registry Services.

Elizabeth is a current reappointed 
member of the Takeovers Panel. She 
also sits on the Advisory Committee 
of The John Sample Group.

Prior to this, Elizabeth was 
a corporate partner with an 
international law firm for 22 years, 
where she held global and national 
leadership roles.

Appointed as an independent 
director on 6 February 2020. Chair 
of the NPP Governance Committee 
and a member of the People and 
Culture Committee.
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Directors'
Report continued

Craig Kennedy
MBA, GAICD, FFIN

Craig Kennedy is Managing Director, 
Cuscal Limited. Craig is responsible 
for all day-to-day company 
operations, including corporate 
strategy and direction. Craig has 
more than 35 years in domestic 
and international retail banking with 
particular expertise in digital banking 
and payments. Prior to joining 
Cuscal, Craig served as Managing 
Director of Espreon Limited and was 
also Head of Direct Banking at ING.

Craig is a fellow of FINSIA 
and a member of the Australian 
Payments Council.

Appointed as a director on 
16 December 2014. Chair of 
the Strategy Committee.

Albert Naffah
BCom, LLB

Albert has over 20 years’ experience 
in financial services across general 
management, strategy, business 
development, corporate and 
regulatory affairs, and operations. 
Albert has significant experience in 
Australia, New Zealand and the US 
at CBA, Mastercard and Westpac.

Albert is the newly appointed Chief 
Executive Officer of CommBank 
Health. Prior to his appointment 
Albert was the General Manager 
of Payments and Data Economy 
at CBA where he was responsible 
for shaping the Bank’s payments 
strategy, managing the retail 
and business payments product 
suite and industry and regulatory 
engagement. Albert’s remit has 
included the commercialisation of 
emerging technology such as the 
New Payments Platform, APIs, open 
banking and mobile payments.

Appointed as a director on 
6 June 2018. Member of the 
Strategy Committee.
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MichaeE O’Shea
BBus, MAICD

Michael has more than 20 years’ 
experience in Financial Services 
including roles in Superannuation, 
Internal Audit, Retail Operations 
and Customer Strategy. In his 
current role, Michael has overall 
responsibility for Payments Product 
Development, Compliance, 
Operations and Support for Cards, 
Merchant Acquiring, ATMs, Payments, 
and Mobile and Electronic Banking. 
Michael is the business sponsor for 
Bendigo and Adelaide Bank Limited 
“Up” Digital Banking initiative.

Michael is also an alternate 
director of Australian Payments 
Network Limited.

Appointed as a director on 
18 October 2018. Member of the 
People and Culture Committee.

Rachel Slade
BEcon (Hons)

Rachel Slade was appointed to 
the role of NAB’s Group Executive, 
Personal Banking, in June 2020.

Previously, Rachel was Chief 
Customer Experience Officer with 
overall responsibility for delivering 
exceptional service for the bank’s 
customers, and Executive General 
Manager Deposits and Transaction 
Services, leading the development 
of products and payments solutions 
for retail, business and corporate 
and institutional customers.

Rachel joined NAB from Westpac 
at the start of 2017, where for more 
than 10 years she held a number 
of senior executive roles including 
leading the global transactional 
services business and the customer- 
led transformation in the retail 
and business bank. Prior to joining 
Westpac, Rachel worked as a 
financial services strategy consultant 
with Andersen Consulting.

Rachel holds a Bachelor of 
Economics (Hons) from Macquarie 
University, is a graduate of the 
Australian Institute of Company 
Directors and a graduate of the 
Harvard Business School’s Women’s 
Leadership Program.

Rachel is also a member of the 
Australian Payments Council.

Appointed as a director on 
8 May 2017.

Jim Tate
MCom, BCom, FCPA, FAICD

After an early career in accounting 
and tax, Jim Tate joined Bank 
of America in 1979 and Westpac 
Banking Corporation in 1988.

Jim led both Westpac’s New York 
and London branches before taking 
over Westpac’s AGC, negotiating 
its successful sale to GE.

Further positions included:
Chief Financial Officer, Westpac 
Institutional Bank, Chief Product 
Officer, Westpac Group, Chief 
Operating Officer, Westpac New 
Zealand Limited and, since 2015, 
Chief Product Officer, Business.

Jim is, currently, an Advisor for 
the Westpac Group, an alumnus 
of the University of New South 
Wales and a Fellow of both CPA 
Australia and Australian Institute 
of Company Directors.

Appointed as a director on 
13 February 2020. Member 
of the Strategy Committee.
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Directors’
Report continued

Alternate
Directors
Jaqueline Kallman1
appointed 8 October 2021

Michael Witts2 
appointed 21 October 2020

Company
Secretaries

Details of company secretaries 
in office at the date of this report 
(or holding office during the year) 
and each company secretary’s 
qualifications and experience are 
set out below.

Vanessa Chapman
BA(Econ) /LLB (UNSW), LLM 
(UNSW), GAICD
Appointed as Company 
Secretary on 22 November 2016. 
Resigned as Company Secretary 
on 20 August 2021.

Patricia Chen
GCert BA
Appointed as Company Secretary 
on 27 June 2017.

1. J Kallman was appointed as alternate 
director to N Dobson

2. M Witts was appointed as alternate 
director to L Da Silva

Director resignations 
during the year

The following directors retired since 
the end of the last financial period 
(30 June 2020) with the retirement 
dates as indicated:

Directors
Chloe Munro AO
22 June 2021 (see tribute on page 17)

Scott Southall
21 October 2020

Greg Johnston
9 September 2021

Alternate directors
John Collins
17 August 2020

Peter Gallagher
19 March 2021
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In memoriam
Chfoe Murtr© AO

The Board and leadership team of 
NPP Australia Limited acknowledges 
with deep sympathy the passing of 
independent director Chloe Munro 
AO on 22 June 2021, following illness.

Chloe joined NPP Australia’s Board 
in February 2018 and was appointed 
Chair of the Audit, Finance and Risk 
Committee and a member of the 
NPP Governance Committee.

As an independent director of 
NPP Australia, Chloe brought deep 
intellect, extensive expertise and 
strategic insight combined with 
a forthright willingness to contribute 
her views.

We were incredibly proud when Chloe 
was recognised as a nominee for the 
AFR 100 Women of Influence award 
for her leadership and contribution 
to public policy in Australia’s energy 
industry and the arts.

While she privately battled illness, 
Chloe remained unflaggingly positive 
and a significant contributor to NPP 
Australia’s Board.

We would like to formally 
acknowledge Chloe’s invaluable 
contribution to NPP Australia Limited 
during her time on our Board, and 
express deepest condolences to her 
family and friends.
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Directors*
Report continued

Directors’ meetings
The number of Board meetings and meetings of Committees during 
the year the Director was eligible to attend, and the number of meetings 
attended by each Director were:

Board

Audit Finance 
& Risk 

Committee

NPP
Governance
Committee

People 
& Culture 

Committee
Strategy

Committee

A B A B A B A B

Linda Da Silva14 5 5 2 2

Nigel Dobson 8 8 5 5

Tony Graham 8 8 4 4

Elizabeth Haliett 8 8 7 7 5 5

Greg Johnston 7 7 6 6

Craig Kennedy 8 8 5 5

Adrian Lovney 8 8 4 4 7 7 6 6 5 5

Robert McKinnon 8 8 4 4 7 7 5 5 5 5

Chloe Munro1 2 7 7 3 3 5 5

Albert Naffah7 8 8 5 4

Michael O’Shea5 6 8 8 2 2 2 2

Rachel Slade8 8 7

Scott Southall3 4 3 3 1 1

Jim Tate 8 7 5 5

Columns marked A indicate the number of meetings the director was 
eligible to attend.

Columns marked B indicate the number of meetings attended. The Chair 
and CEO attend meetings of Strategy Committee as an observer. The CEO 
attends the meetings of the People & Culture Committee as an observer.

The NPP Governance Committee is comprised of the Independent Directors 
of the Board and the CEO.

1. Linda Da Silva was appointed as a Director on 21 October 2020
2. Chloe Munro ceased to be a Director on 22 June 2021
3. Scott Southall ceased to be a Director on 21 October 2020
4. Linda Da Silva was appointed to the Audit Finance and Risk Committee on 2 December 2020, 

and subsequently as Chair on 19 July 2021
5. Michael O’Shea retired from the Audit Finance and Risk Committee on 2 December 2020
6. Peter Gallagher attended one meeting on behalf of Greg Johnston
7. Lynda McMillan attended one meeting on behalf of Albert Naffah
8. Shane Conway attended one meeting on behalf of Rachel Slade
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Principal activities
The principal activity of the Company is the management and operation 
of the New Payments Platform (NPP) which is Australia’s real-time payments 
infrastructure. It provides Australian consumers, businesses and government 
agencies the ability to make and receive fast data-rich payments between 
bank accounts every day of the year. The NPP has been developed 
collaboratively by NPP Australia and 13 leading financial institutions.
The three key pillars of NPP Australia’s operations are:
a. Operate;
b. Grow via Participants and third party use of the platform supported 

by the development of NPP Business Services; and
c. Governance of the rules and regulations established to manage the 

platform, and ongoing compliance and monitoring activities.

Access to the NPP
NPP Australia aims to operate the NPP in a manner that promotes the public 
interest, including facilitating fair access to the NPP as mutually owned utility 
infrastructure and ensuring ongoing investment in the NPP to meet the changing 
needs of financial institutions and users of the Australian payments system.

The NPP has been intentionally designed to be ‘open access’, encouraging 
broad participation across the payments ecosystem. Access arrangements 
for the NPP have been deliberately structured to be inclusive and to maximise 
the opportunities for different types of entities with different business objectives 
to access the capabilities of the NPP.

There are six ways for organisations to access the NPP:

1. NPP Full Participant
2. NPP Settlement Participant
3. Identified Institution
4. Connected Institution
5. Overlay Service Provider
6. End user or customer of a participating financial institution (NPP 

Full Participant, NPP Settlement Participant or Identified Institution)

For more information on access please visit “Accessing the Platform” 
on the Company’s website.
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Directors'
Report continued

Applications for access in FY 2G21
During the last financial year (for the period from 1 July 2020 to 30 June 
2021), NPP Australia has accepted one application for direct access from an 
applicant seeking to become an NPP Full Participant and issued NPPA shares 
to that applicant, who is currently seeking further regulatory approvals from 
another organisation. Additionally, during this period, five organisations have 
come on board indirectly as Identified Institutions, indicating that this has been 
the preferred route for many organisations to access the NPP. As at the time 
of this report, there are currently 105 organisations participating in the NPP, 
either as NPP Participants or as Identified Institutions (including sub-brands 
and subsidiaries). There are over 75.1 million accounts that can make and/or 
receive NPP payments, enabling many consumers, businesses and government 
agencies to realise the benefits of the NPP as customers of their participating 
financial institution.

NPP Wholesale Transaction Cost
NPP Australia is a mutually owned utility and operates on the guiding principle 
of being economically self-sustaining (and not profit-maximising), aiming 
to recover its operating costs based on a wholesale unit transaction cost 
which is charged to NPP Participants.
At the time of this report, NPP Australia has not established a wholesale 
transaction fee on a per transaction basis as current transaction volumes 
do not support the determination of a fee that would incentivise usage of 
the platform. Rather than paying on a per transaction basis, NPP Participants 
have made equitably calculated contributions to cover NPP Australia’s 
operating costs.
Based on the organisation’s sales revenue of $43.6m and settled transaction 
volumes of ~543 million (defined as ‘off-us’ transactions occurring across the 
Platform) for the financial year, the implied break-even wholesale transaction 
cost would have been ~$0.08 for the period. As a straight average, this implied 
cost masks a number of variations:

• This figure is a straight average over a 12 month period during which 
transactional volumes were ramping up. The implied cost is trending 
downwards as transaction volumes increase.

• Further, the implied wholesale transaction cost for each NPP 
Participant may be higher or lower than the industry average, 
depending on how many NPP transactions they have sent or received.

• In addition, the NPP wholesale transaction cost is one of many input 
costs for financial institutions, including those levied by Overlay 
Service Providers, in some cases by payment service providers, 
and also by the RBA for the usage of the Fast Settlement Service.
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Results
The net profit for the year ended 30 June 2021 was $4,204,176 (2020: 
$4,001,437).

Dividends
No dividends were proposed or paid in respect of the period since 
incorporation to 30 June 2021.

Review of operations
During the financial period the Company continued to oversee the operation, 
management and governance of the NPP.

Significant changes in the state of affairs
The section below likely developments and expected results of operations 
sets out the matters that are expected to have an impact on the future 
operations. Other than this matter, there were no significant changes in 
the state of affairs of the Company during the 2020 - 2021 financial year.

Likely developments and expected results 
of operations
In 2021-2022 NPP Australia Limited will continue to be responsible for the 
operation of the NPP. The Company remains focused on working with the 
payments community (ranging from major banks, regional and international 
banks, payments aggregators to FinTech start-ups) to encourage usage 
of the platform and the development of native capability to further enhance 
the platform’s functionality.

Following the RBA’s Review of Retail Payments Regulation (published 
29 November 2019), the NPP Australia Board and shareholders considered 
that there was merit in exploring the potential consolidation of domestic 
schemes and organisations into a single entity.

A wholly owned subsidiary company, Industry Committee Administration 
Pty Ltd (ABN 91 641 558 250) (ICA), was incorporated on 15 June 2020, 
to establish a governance framework for a committee (Industry Committee) 
to be established for the purpose of considering and making non-binding 
recommendations as to whether and how best the objects of the industry- 
owned payments companies might be served by a merger or amalgamation 
of NPP Australia, Eftpos Payments Australia Limited and the BPAY Group 
companies (subject to obtaining authorisation or approval from the Australian 
Competition and Consumer Commission), taking into account the respective 
interests of their constituent shareholders, stakeholders and the public 
interest. ICA was established as a special purpose contracting entity for 
the purposes of coordinating this activity. The summary of ICA’s financial 
information has been included the consolidated financial statements.
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Directors*
Report continued

Following extensive consultation and analysis of the merits of establishing 
a new holding company and group structure, subject to ACCC authorisation 
or approval, with each of the three companies becoming a wholly owned 
subsidiary of the new holding company, Australian Payments Plus Limited, 
the Industry Committee made a non-binding recommendation in favour 
of the proposition (Proposed Transaction).

On 10 December 2020, the three companies executed the Implementation 
Agreement obliging each of them to progress the Proposed Transaction 
and to procure the satisfaction of the conditions precedent to completion, 
including obtaining ACCC authorisation or approval, and in the case of each 
of the companies, taking the corporate actions and procuring the member 
approvals necessary for completion of the Proposed Transaction.

Matters subsequent to the end 
of the financial year
As discussed above, on 10 December 2020, NPP Australia Limited executed 
an Implementation Agreement to amalgamate with BPAY Group Holding 
Pty Ltd and eftpos Payments Australia Limited under a holding company 
(Australian Payments Plus Ltd), with the principal condition precedent 
to completion of the amalgamation being the granting of ACCC merger 
authorisation.
Final authorisation was provided by the ACCC on 9 September 2021.
Accordingly, NPP Australia Limited will become a wholly-owned subsidiary 
of Australian Payments Plus Limited, with existing NPP Australia Limited 
shareholders (with the exception of the Reserve Bank of Australia) receiving 
shares in Australian Payments Plus Limited.
Other than this matter, no matters or circumstances have arisen that would 
significantly affect or may significantly affect:

1. the operations in future financial years; or
2. the results of those operations in future financial years; or
3. the state of affairs in future financial years.
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Environmental regulation
The Company is not subject to any significant environmental regulation 
in respect of its activities.

Remuneration policy
During the last financial year (for the period from 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021), 
no director of the Company has received, or has become entitled to receive, 
a benefit other than:

1. the independent Chair, Robert McKinnon and independent Directors, 
Elizabeth Haliett and Chloe Munro, as included in Note 4 of the 
financial statements;

2. the CEO receives remuneration in his capacity as an Executive
of the organisation, but is not entitled to be remunerated in his capacity 
as a Director of the Company; and

3. the benefit of the indemnity described below.

Indemnification of officers and auditors
The Corporations Act 2001 prohibits a Company from indemnifying directors, 
secretaries, executive officers and auditors from liability except for liability 
to a party, other than the Company or a related body corporate, where the 
liability does not arise out of conduct involving a lack of good faith and 
except for liability for costs and expenses incurred in successfully defending 
certain proceedings. An indemnity for officers or employees, who are not 
directors, secretaries or executive officers, is not expressly restricted by the 
Corporations Act 2001.

Article 18.1 of the Company’s Constitution provides in effect that every person 
who is or has been a director or secretary of the Company is entitled to 
be indemnified by the Company against any liabilities and expenses incurred 
by that person relating to that person’s position with the Company other than 
to the extent prohibited by statute.

The directors of the Company, secretaries and eligible officers of NPP 
Australia have the benefit of the indemnity in Article 18.1.
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Insurance
During the financial period 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021 the Company paid 
a premium under a contract insuring each of the directors, secretaries 
and eligible officers of the Company. Disclosure of the nature of the 
liability insured against and the amount of the premium is prohibited by the 
confidentiality clause of the insurance policy, in accordance with common 
commercial practice.

Proceedings on behalf of the Company
No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations 
Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings on behalf of the Company, or 
to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party for the 
purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or part 
of those proceedings.

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of directors, pursuant 
to section 298(2)(a) of the Corporations Act 2001.

Auditor’s independence declaration
A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under 
section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out immediately after 
this directors’ report.

On behalf of the directors

Chair
R McKinnon A Lovney

Chief Executive Officer

Date: 16 September 2021 
Sydney
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Cash Balances
at 30 June
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SO GrantThornton
Level 17, 383 Kent Street 
Sydney NSW 2000

Correspondence to:
Locked Bag Q800 
QVB Post Office 
Sydney NSW 1230

T +61 2 8297 2400 
F+61 2 9299 4445
E info.nsw@au.Qt.com
W www.grantthomton.com.au

Auditor’s Independence Declaration
To the Directors of NPP Australia Limited

In accordance with the requirements of section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, as lead auditor for the audit of NPP 
Australia Limited for the year ended 30 June 2021,1 declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:

a no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and

b no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd 
Chartered Accountants

M R Leivesley
Partner - Audit & Assurance

Sydney, 16 September 2021

Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd ACN 130 913 594 www.grantthornton.com.au
a subsidiary or related entity of Grant Thornton Australia Ltd ABN 41 127 556 389

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients 
and/or refers to one or more member firms, as the context requires. Grant Thornton Australia Ltd is a member firm of Grant Thornton international 
Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a separate legal entity. Services are 
delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate one 
another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. In the Australian context only, the use of the term 'Grant Thornton’ may refer to 
Grant Thornton Australia Limited ABN 41 127 556 389 and its Australian subsidiaries and related entities. GTIL is not an Australian related entity to 
Grant Thornton Australia Limited.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.
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This financial report covers 
NPP Australia Limited (NPPA or the 
Company) as an individual entity.

NPPA is a company limited by shares, 
incorporated and domiciled in Australia.

Its registered office and principal place 
of business is:

NPP Australia Limited 
Level 9, 420 George Street 
Sydney, NSW 2000
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report continued

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive income for the year ended 
30 June 2021

Consolidated Group
2021 2020

Note $ $

Revenue 2 43,587,870 43,899,999

Other income 2 6,295,778 492,833

Employee benefits expense (5,258,841) (4,748,053)

Occupancy expenses (52,059) (51,234)

Administration expenses (122,682) (187,442)

Amortisation of intangible assets (8,234,175) (8,234,051)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (177,404) (172,273)

Professional service fees (1,334,507) (1,632,087)

Committee Administration costs (5,750,621) -

Governance fees (5,853) (2,613)

Marketing costs (159,603) (78,391)

IT Expenses (24,342,430) (25,042,841)

Insurance (230,029) (220,127)

Finance costs (11,268) (22,283)

Profit before income tax 4,204,176 4,001,437

Tax expense 3 - -

Net Profit for the year 4,204,176 4,001,437

Total comprehensive income for the year 4,204,176 4,001,437

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Financial Position 
as at 30 June 2021

ASSETS

Note

Consolidated Group 
2021 2020

$ $

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 6 42,580,312 31,609,655

Trade and other receivables 7 405,693 217,326

Other assets 11 12,074,607 11,752,514

Total current assets 55,060,612 43,579,495

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 8 84,861 102,637

Right-of-use assets 9 74,080 222,241

Deferred tax assets 3 12,116,076 8,347,947

Intangible assets 10 67,769,276 71,298,423

Total non-current assets 80,044,293 79,971,248

Total assets 135,104,905 123,550,743

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 13 6,261,753 2,480,824

Contract liabilities 14 1,426,436 1,291,950

Lease liabilities 15 84,927 178,229

Total current liabilities 7,773,116 3,951,003

Non-current liabilities

Trade and other payables 13 66,098 208,047

Lease liabilities 15 - 84,927

Deferred tax liabilities 3 12,102,696 8,347,947

Total non-current liabilities 12,168,794 8,640,921

Total liabilities 19,941,910 12,591,924

Net assets 115,162,995 110,958,819

EQUITY

Issued capital 16 134,800,000 134,800,000

Retained earnings (19,637,005) (23,841,181)

Total Equity 115,162,995 110,958,819

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Financial 
report continued

Statement of Changes in Equity 
for the year ended 30 June 2021

Redeemable
Preferred

Shares
Retained
Earnings Total

Note $ S $

Consolidated Entity
Balance at 1 July 2019 134,800,000 (27,842,618) 106,957,382

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Profit for the year 4,001,437 4,001,437

Total comprehensive income for the year - 4,001,437 4,001,437

Balance at 30 June 2020 134,800,000 (23,841,181) 110,958,819

Balance at 1 July 2019 134,800,000 (23,841,181) 110,958,819

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Profit for the year 4,204,176 4,204,176

Total comprehensive income for the year - 4,204,176 4,204,176

Balance at 30 June 2021 134,800,000 (19,637,005) 115,162,995

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Cash Flows 
for the year ended 30 June 2021

Consolidated Group
Note 2021 2020

$ $

CASH FLOWS FROM
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from customers 53,503,300 48,173,950

Payments to suppliers and employees (38,396,268) (35,221,118)

Interest received 158,796 426,060

Revenue non-operating 660,628 63,038

Net cash generated by 
operating activities 19 15,926,456 13,441,930

CASH FLOWS FROM
INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Investment in Intangible assets (4,705,027) (3,914,692)

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (11,469) (75,582)

Net cash (used in)/generated 
by investing activities (4,716,496) (3,990,274)

CASH FLOWS FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Repayment of lease liabilities (239,303) (229,054)

Net cash provided by/(used in) 
financing activities (239,303) (229,054)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held 10,970,657 9,222,602

Cash and cash equivalents 
at beginning of financial year 31,609,655 22,387,053

Cash and cash equivalents 
at end of financial year 6 42,580,312 31,609,655

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2021
These consolidated financial statements and notes represent those of NPP 
Australia Limited and its Controlled Entity (the 'Consolidated Group’ or ‘Group’).

The separate financial statements and notes of NPP Australia Limited have 
been presented within this financial report as an individual parent entity 
(‘Parent Entity’).

The financial statements were authorised for issue on 16 September 2021 
by the directors of the Company.

Note 1: General Information and Summary 
of Significant Accounting Policies
Board of Directors

Robert McKinnon 

Linda Da Silva 

Michael O’Shea 

Jim Tate 

Nigel Dobson ' 

Craig Kennedy 

Adrian Lovney 

Albert Naffah 

Tony Graham 

Rachel Slade 

Elizabeth Hallett

Independent Chair

ING Bank (Australia) Limited

Bendigo and Adelaide Bank Limited

Westpac Banking Corporation

Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited

Cuscal Limited

NPP Australia Limited

Commonwealth Bank of Australia

Macquarie Bank Limited

National Australia Bank Limited

Independent
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Alternate Directors

Kate Byrne 

Shane Conway 

Michael Witts ING Bank (Australia) Limited

Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited

Cuscal Limited

National Australia Bank Limited

Bendigo and Adelaide Bank Limited

Jacqueline Kallman

Kieran McKenna

Lynda McMillan Commonwealth Bank of Australia

Statement of Compliance
These financial statements are general purpose financial statements which 
have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) 
and the Corporations Act 2001.

Accounting Standards include Australian equivalents to International Financial 
Reporting Standards (‘AIFRS’). Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards 
ensures that the financial statements and notes of the Company comply with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (‘IASB’).

Basis of Preparation
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with the Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations of the Australian Accounting Standards Board. The Company 
is a for-profit entity for financial reporting purposes under Australian Accounting 
Standards. Material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these 
financial statements are presented below and have been consistently applied 
unless stated otherwise.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a 
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement 
date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using 
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, 
the Company takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if 
market participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing 
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or 
disclosure purposes in these financial statements is determined on such a basis, 
except for measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair 
value, such as value in use in AASB 136 Impairment of Assets.
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In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are 
categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to 
the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs 
to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

- Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date;

- Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, 
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly: and

- Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below,

a. Principles of Consolidation
The general purpose consolidated financial statements incorporate all of 
the assets, liabilities and results of the Parent NPP Australia Limited and 
its Controlled Entity (which is a wholly owned subsidiary). Subsidiaries are 
entities the Parent controls. The Parent controls an entity when it is exposed 
to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity 
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.

The assets, liabilities and results of all subsidiaries are fully consolidated 
into the financial statements of the Group from the date on which control 
is obtained by the Group. The consolidation of a subsidiary is discontinued 
from the date that control ceases. Inter-company transactions, balances and 
unrealised gains or losses on transactions between Group entities are fully 
eliminated on consolidation. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been 
changed and adjustments made where necessary to ensure uniformity of 
the accounting policies adopted by the Group.

Business Combinations
Business combinations occur where an acquirer obtains control over one 
or more businesses.

A business combination is accounted for by applying the acquisition method, 
unless it is a combination involving entities or businesses under common 
control. The business combination will be accounted for from the date that 
control is obtained, whereby the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired 
and liabilities (including contingent liabilities) assumed is recognised (subject 
to certain limited exceptions).

When measuring the consideration transferred in the business combination, 
any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement 
is also included. Subsequent to initial recognition, contingent consideration 
classified as equity is not remeasured and its subsequent settlement is 
accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration classified as an asset 
or liability is remeasured in each reporting period to fair value, recognising 
any change to fair value in profit or loss, unless the change in value can be 
identified as existing at acquisition date.

All transaction costs incurred in relation to business combinations other 
than those associated with the issue of a financial instrument are recognised 
as expenses in profit or loss when incurred.

The acquisition of a business may result in the recognition of goodwill 
or a gain from a bargain purchase.

36 | NPP Australia Limited



52

b. Income Tax
The income tax expense or benefit for the year is the tax payable on 
the current year’s taxable income based on the national income tax rate 
adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable 
to temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and 
their carrying amounts in the financial statements, and to unused tax losses.

Deferred tax expense reflects movements in deferred tax asset and deferred 
tax liability balances during the year as well as unused tax losses.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the tax rates that are 
expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability 
is settled and their measurement also reflects the manner in which 
management expects to recover or settle the carrying amount of the related 
asset or liability.

Deferred tax assets relating to temporary differences and unused tax losses 
are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit 
will be available against which the benefits of the deferred tax asset can be 
utilised. Such assets are released through the tax line in the profit and loss.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset where a legally enforceable right of 
set-off exists and it is intended that net settlement or simultaneous realisation 
and settlement of the respective asset and liability will occur. Deferred tax 
assets and liabilities are offset where:

i. a legally enforceable right of set-off exists; and

ii. the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by 
the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different 
taxable entities where it is intended that net settlement or simultaneous 
realisation and settlement of the respective asset and liability will occur 
in future periods in which significant amounts of deferred tax assets
or liabilities are expected to be recovered or settled.

c. Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, Plant and Equipment are measured on the cost basis and therefore 
carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment. In the event the carrying amount of property, plant and 
equipment is greater than the estimated recoverable amount, the carrying 
amount is written down immediately to the estimated recoverable amount 
and impairment losses are recognised either in profit or loss.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment is reviewed annually 
by directors to ensure it is not in excess of the recoverable amount from 
these assets. The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the 
expected net cash flows that will be received from the assets employment 
and subsequent disposal. The expected net cash flows have been discounted 
to their present values in determining recoverable amounts.

Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line 
basis over their useful lives. The estimated useful life of property, plant 
and equipment is 3 to 5 years.
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An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised when it is sold 
or otherwise disposed of, or when its use is expected to bring no future 
economic benefits. Any gain or loss from derecognising the asset (the 
difference between the proceeds of disposal and the carrying amount 
of the asset) is included in the statement of comprehensive income 
in the period the item is derecognised.

d. Classification as debt or equity
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or 
as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement.

Shareholders’ equity contributions are recognised as Preference Shares 
in the Statement of Financial Position.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the entity 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions to the instrument. For financial 
assets, this is the date that the entity commits itself to either the purchase 
or sale of the asset (ie trade date accounting is adopted).

Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus transactions 
costs, except where the instrument is classified ‘at fair value through profit 
or loss or other comprehensive income’, in which case transaction costs 
are expensed to profit or loss immediately. Where available, quoted prices 
in an active market are used to determine fair value. In other circumstances, 
valuation techniques are adopted.

Classification and Subsequent Measurement
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the entity 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions to the instrument. For financial 
assets, this is the date that the entity commits itself to either the purchase 
or sale of the asset.

Financial instruments (except for trade receivables) are initially measured 
at fair value plus transactions costs, except where the instrument is classified 
‘at fair value through profit or loss’, in which case transaction costs are 
expensed to profit or loss immediately. Where available, quoted prices in 
an active market are used to determine fair value. In other circumstances, 
valuation techniques are adopted.

Financial assets in terms of AASB 9 need to be measured subsequently 
at either amortised cost or fair value on the basis of the entity’s business 
model and the cash flow characteristics of the financial assets.

Trade receivables are initially measured at the transaction price if the trade 
receivables do not contain a significant financing component or if the 
practical expedient was applied as specified in AASB 15.63.

Amortised cost of a financial asset is:
o the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial recognition;
• minus the principal repayments;
° plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of 

any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount; and 
o adjusted for any loss allowance.
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The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost 
of a debt instrument and of allocating interest expense in profit or loss over 
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the internal rate of return 
of the financial asset or liability. That is, it is the rate that exactly discounts 
the estimated future cash flows through the expected life of the instrument 
to the net carrying amount at initial recognition.

Preference Shares
Preferred share capital is classified as equity if it is non-redeemable or 
redeemable only at the discretion of the Group, and any dividends are 
discretionary. Dividends thereon are recognised as distributions within equity 
upon declaration by the directors.

e. Leases
The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the 
commencement date. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, 
which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any 
lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial 
direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the 
underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it 
is located, less any lease incentives received.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently amortised using the straight-line 
method from the commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful 
life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The estimated 
useful lives of right-of-use assets are determined on the same basis as 
those of property and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is 
periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain 
remeasurements of the lease liability.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease 
payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted using the 
interest rate implicit in the lease or if that rate cannot be readily determined, 
the incremental borrowing rate. Generally, an incremental borrowing rate is 
used as the discount rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise 
the following:
• fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;
° variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially 

measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date;
o amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and 
o the excercise price under a purchase option that the Group is reasonably 

certain to exercise.

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. It is remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments 
arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the estimate 
of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or 
if there is a change in the assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, 
extension or termination option.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment 
is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded 
in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been 
reduced to zero.
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Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease 
liabilities for short-term leases of machinery that have a lease term of 
12 months or less and leases of low-value assets, including IT equipment. 
Lease payments associated with these leases will be expensed on a straight- 
line basis over the lease term.

f. Impairment of financial assets
The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on 
investments in financial assets that are measured at amortised cost or fair 
value through other comprehensive income, lease receivables, contract 
assets as well as loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts.
No loss allowance is recognised for investments in equity instruments.
The amount of expected credit losses (“ECLs”) is updated at each reporting 
period to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the 
respective financial instrument.

For trade receivables, the Group has elected to use the simplified approach 
and has determined the loss allowance based off the lifetime ECL. The 
expected credit losses on these financial assets are estimated based on the 
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific 
to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the 
current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, 
including time value of money where appropriate.

Purchased or originated credit-impaired approach
For a financial asset that is considered credit-impaired (not on acquisition 
or origination), the Group measures any change in its lifetime expected credit 
loss as the difference between the asset’s gross carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial 
asset’s original effective interest rate. Any adjustment is recognised in profit 
or loss as an impairment gain or loss.

Low credit risk operational simplification approach
If a financial asset is determined to have low credit risk at the initial reporting 
date, the Group assumes that the credit risk has not increased significantly 
since initial recognition and accordingly it can continue to recognise a loss 
allowance of 12-month expected credit loss.

In order to make such a determination that the financial asset has low credit 
risk, the Group applies its internal credit risk ratings or other methodologies 
using a globally comparable definition of low credit risk.

A financial asset is considered to have low credit risk if there is a low risk 
of default by the borrower, the borrower has strong capacity to meet its 
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term, or adverse changes 
in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but not 
necessarily will, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual 
cash flow obligations.

Recognition of expected credit losses in financial statements 
At each reporting date, the Group recognises the movement in the loss 
allowance as an impairment gain or loss in the statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income.
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The carrying amount of financial assets measured at amortised cost includes 
the loss allowance relating to that asset

Assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are 
recognised at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised in other 
comprehensive income. Amounts in relation to change in credit risk are 
transferred from other comprehensive income to profit or loss at every 
reporting period.

For financial assets that are unrecognised (eg loan commitments yet to 
be drawn, financial guarantees), a provision for loss allowance is created 
in the statement of financial position to recognise the loss allowance.

Derecognition
Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receipt 
of cash flows expire or the asset is transferred to another party whereby 
the entity no longer has any significant continuing involvement in the risks 
and benefits associated with the asset. Financial liabilities are derecognised 
when the related obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The 
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability extinguished 
or transferred to another party and the fair value of consideration paid, 
including the transfer of non-cash assets or liabilities assumed, is recognised 
in profit or loss.

g. Intangible Assets
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period 
in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development (or from 
the development phase of an internal project) is recognised if, and only if, 
all of the following have been demonstrated:
• the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it 

will be available for use or sale;
• the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;
• the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;
• how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;
• the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to 

complete the development and to use or sell the intangible asset; and
• the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the 

intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible assets is 
the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when the intangible asset 
first meets the recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-generated 
intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is recognised 
in profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible assets are 
reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment 
losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.

The Group has assessed the economic useful life of the internally generated 
intangible asset, being the Payment Clearing and Settlement Infrastructure, 
to be ten (10) years from date of first use, commencing 1 April 2018.
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The Group has not yet assessed the economic useful life of the internally 
generated intangible asset, being the Debit Initiative (MRS), which is currently 
still in development.
De-recognition of intangible assets
An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic 
benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from 
de-recognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between 
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset are 
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

h. Impairment of Assets
Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill
At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts 
of its tangible and intangible assets to determine if circumstances have arisen 
that indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.

If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated 
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). When it is not 
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group 
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the 
asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be 
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating 
units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating 
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified. 
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet 
available for use are tested for impairment at least annually, and whenever 
there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and 
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not 
been adjusted. If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating 
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount 
of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the 
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment 
loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether there is 
any indication that an asset may be impaired. The assessment will include 
the consideration of external and internal sources of information. If such an 
indication exists, an impairment test is carried out on the asset by comparing 
the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair 
value less costs of disposal and value in use, to the asset’s carrying amount. 
Any excess of the asset’s carrying amount over its recoverable amount 
is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the asset is carried at 
a revalued amount in accordance with another Standard (eg in accordance 
with the revaluation model in AASB 116: Property, Plant and Equipment).
Any impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation decrease 
in accordance with that other Standard.
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Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual 
asset, the entity estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating 
unit to which the asset belongs.

Impairment testing is performed annually for goodwill, intangible assets with 
indefinite lives and intangible assets not yet available for use. Intangible assets 
with definite lives and which are available for use are assessed for indicators 
of impairment annually.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount 
of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate 
of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does 
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had 
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in 
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit 
or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case 
the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

i. Employee Benefits
A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of 
wages and salaries, annual leave & other leave entitlements in the period 
the related service is rendered. Liabilities recognised in respect of short
term employee benefits, are measured at their nominal values using the 
remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement. Liabilities 
recognised in respect of long term employee benefits are measured as the 
present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made by the Group 
in respect of services provided by employees up to reporting date.

j. Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal 
or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the Group will 
be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of 
the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the 
best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation 
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and 
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using 
the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount 
is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value 
of money is material). When some or all of the economic benefits required 
to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a 
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement 
will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

k. Cash and Cash Equivalents
For cash flow statement presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents 
should include cash on hand, deposits at call which are readily convertible 
to cash on hand and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
Subsequently, cash and cash equivalents are measured at amortised cost 
in accordance with AASB 9.

2021 Annual Report | 43



59

Financial 
report continued

I. Revenue recognition
Revenues are realised when cash or claims to cash are received in exchange 
for goods or services.

Fee income
Fees consist of a fixed contribution operating charge, which is not subject 
to any variable consideration. Fees received from members (who are also 
shareholders of NPPA) for utilisation of the Payment Clearing and Settlement 
Infrastructure are recognised as revenue over time where the Parent measures 
the progress towards complete satisfaction of its performance obligations 
at the allocated transaction price with the objective of recognising revenue 
that depicts the Parent’s performance in transferring control of the service 
to the participants.

Revenue recorded for the Subsidiary throughout the reporting period consists 
of administration charges which are subject to a variable consideration in that 
fees received from members, for participation in the Industry Committee, 
are recognised as revenue over time in proportion to expenses incurred.

Interest income
Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable that 
the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of revenue 
can be measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time basis, 
by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate 
applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net 
carrying amount on initial recognition. Interest income is within the scope 
of AASB 9: Financial Instruments.

m. Trade and Other Receivables
Trade and other receivables include amounts due from customers for goods 
sold and services performed in the ordinary course of business. Receivables 
expected to be collected within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 
are classified as current assets. All other receivables are classified as non- 
current assets.

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost. Interest income is recognised 
by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables when 
the effect of discounting is immaterial. Payment terms for receivables are 
30 days. Trade receivables will be reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which 
are known to be uncollectible are written off.

n. Trade and Other Payables
Trade and other payables, are initially measured at fair value, net of 
transaction costs. Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with interest 
expense recognised on an effective yield basis.

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to 
the Group prior to the end of the financial period and which are unpaid.
The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days.
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o. Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction 
or production of assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time 
to prepare for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those 
assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended 
use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period 
in which they are incurred.

p. Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of 
GST, except:

i. Where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation 
authority, it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of an asset 
or as part of an item of expense; or

ii. For receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST. 
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST 
receivable or payable. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable 
to, the ATO is included with other receivables or payables in the statement 
of financial position.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash 
flows arising from investing or financing activities which are recoverable from, 
or payable to, the ATO are presented as operating cash flows included in 
receipts from customers or payments to suppliers.

q. Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
The accounting policies and disclosures adopted are consistent with those 
of the previous year.

Certain comparative information has been reclassified to conform with the 
current period’s presentation.

r. Critical Accounting Judgements
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in 
Note 1, the directors of the Group are required to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that 
are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are 
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the 
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period 
of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and 
future periods.

The following are the critical judgements that the directors have made in the 
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most 
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
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Recoverability of internally generated intangible asset 
On an annual basis the directors consider whether there is any indication 
that the intangible asset might be impaired based on internal and 
external information.

During the year, the directors reconsidered the recoverability of the 
Parent’s internally generated intangible asset, being the Payment Clearing 
and Settlement Infrastructure asset & the Debit Initiative (MPS) asset, 
which is included in the statement of financial position at 30 June 2021 
with a carrying amount of $55,585,484 & $12,182,596 respectively. For 
both assets, the directors have determined that there are no indications 
of impairment.

For both assets, the Directors have determined that there are no 
indications of impairment. However, since the MPS asset is not yet ready 
for use, an impairment test is required to be carried out at least annually. 
Refer to Note 10 for further details of the impairment testing and the key 
estimates and judgements used in the impairment test.

Tax assets
Due to the probability of future taxable profit being available, the parent 
company has recognised a tax asset as at June 2021. This deferred 
tax asset has been recognised to the extent that it offsets the deferred 
tax liability at this date, as per Note 3.

Due to the probability of future taxable profit being available, the 
subsidary company has recognised a tax asset as at June 2021.

The parent company and subsidiary company are not consolidated 
for tax purposes.

Revenue Recognition
Fees received in respect of participant access to the NPP Infrastructure 
are subject to performance criteria and other conditions, including 
ones outside of the Group’s control (for example, regulatory approvals). 
Participant administration charges payable to the Industry Committee 
Administration Pty Ltd are subject to performance criteria and 
other conditions (for example, set out in the Industry Committee 
Participation Agreements).
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s. Parent Information
The following information has been extended from the books and records 
of the parent and has been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards

Parent Entity 
2021 2020

$ $
ASSETS
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Trade and other receivables
Other assets

Total current assets

Non-current assets 

Property, plant and equipment 

Right-of-use assets 

Deferred tax assets 

Intangible assets 

Other financial assets 

Total non-current assets 

Total assets

LIABILITIES 

Current liabilities 

Trade and other payables 

Contract liabilities 

Lease liabilities 

Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities 

Trade and other payables 

Lease liabilities 

Deferred tax liabilities 

Total non-current liabilities 

Total liabilities 

Net assets

41,047,570 31,609,654

271,883 217,326

12,074,607 11,752,514

53,394,060 43,579,494

84,861 102,637

74,080 222,241

12,102,696 8,347,947

67,769,276 71,298,423
36,301 1

80,067,214 79,971,249

133,461,274 123,550,743

5,706,501 2,480,824

338,057 1,291,950

84,927 178,229

6,129,485 3,951,003

66,098 208,047

- 84,927

12,102,696 8,347,947

12,168,794 8,640,921

18,298,279 12,591,924

115,162,995 110,958,819

EQUITY 

Issued capital 

Retained earnings

Total Equity

134,800,000

(19,637,005)

115,162,995

134,800,000

(23,841,181)

110,958,819

Total comprehensive income for the year 4,204,176 4,001,437
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t. Subsidiary Information
The following information has been extended from the books and records of the 
parent and has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards.

Other Income
Committee administration costs 
Marketing costs
Profit before income tax
Tax expense
Net profit for the year

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Other assets
Total current assets

Non-current assets 

Property, plant and equipment 
Right-of-use assets 
Deferred tax assets 
Intangible assets 
Other financial assets 
Total non-current assets 

Total assets

LIABILITIES 
Current liabilities 

Trade and other payables 
Contract liabiliies 
Borrowings
Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities 

Trade and other payables 
Borrowings
Deferred tax liabilities 
Other financial liabilities 
Total non-current liabilities 

Total liabilities 

Net assets

EQUITY 
Issued capital 
Retained earnings 
Total equity

Subsidiary Information
2021 2020

$ $
5,761,621

(5,750,621)
(11,000)

1,532,742 1
133,810

1,666,552 1

13,380

13,380
1,679,932 1

555,252
1,088,379

1,643,631

36,300
36,300

1,679,931
1 1

1 1

1 148 NPP Australia Limited



64

Mote 2: Revenue and Other income
The Company has recognised the following amounts relating to revenue in the 
statement of profit or loss.

Consolidated Group 
Note 2021 2020

$ $

Revenue

- NPP fixed contribution operating charges 43,587,870 43,899,999

Total sales revenue 43,587,870 43,899,999

Other revenue

- ICA administration charges

- interest received

- Sundry income 

Total other revenue

5,761,621

131,379 429,795

402,778 63,038

6,295,778 492,833

Total Revenue & Other Income 49,883,648 44,392,832
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Mote 3: Tax Expense
Consolidated Group 

Note 2021 2020
$ $

(a) The components of tax (expense) 
income comprise:

Current tax 13,380

Deferred tax (13,380)

(b) Current Tax
The prima facie tax on profit from ordinary 
activities before income tax is reconciled 
to income tax as follows:

Profit(Loss) before tax 4,204,176 4,001,437
Prima facie tax payable on profit from ordinary
activities before income tax at 30% (2020: 30%) (1,261,253) (1,200,431)

Adjustments for:

— Current year loss to be carried forward (1,608,466) (2,020,001)

— Tax deductions in excess
of accounting expenses 2,869,924 3,203,768

— Non-deductable PDs 13,175 16,664

— Effect of changes in tax rates

Income tax attributable to the Group 13,380

Deferred Tax Movements

Recognition of timing difference
and carried forward losses 3,768,129 3,613,617

R&D offset or DTAs released

Recognition of DTL on timing difference (3,754,749) (3,613,617)

13,380

Total taxation charge/benefit

Deferred Tax Balances at 30 June

Deferred tax asset 12,116,076 8,347,947

Deferred tax liability (12,102,696) (8,347,947)

13,380

As at 30 June 2021, the parent company had cumulative tax losses carried 
forward of approximately $54,556,665 (2020: $49,195,110). A deferred tax asset has 
been recognised in respect of some of these tax losses, to the extent that they 
offset current deferred tax liabilities, as there is sufficient certainty that suitable 
tax profits will arise which could be offset against these tax losses. A deferred 
tax liability has been recognised in respect of taxable temporary differences.
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Note 4: Key Management Personnel Compensation
The following persons were directors and key management personnel 
of NPPA Limited (Parent) during the financial period:

Directors
(as at 30 June 2021)

Alternative Directors 
(as at 30 June 2021)

Robert McKinnon 
(Independent Chair)

Adrian Lovney 
(Chief Executive Officer)

Michael O’Shea Kate Byrne

Jim Tate

Linda Da Silva Michael Witts

Nigel Dobson Jacqueline Kallman

Greg Johnston

Craig Kennedy Kieran McKenna

Albert Naffah Lynda McMillan

Tony Graham

Rachel Slade Shane Conway

Elizabeth Hallett (Independent)

Key Management Personnel (as at 30 June 2021)
Adrian Lovney Chief Executive Officer

Vanessa Chapman General Counsel and Company Secretary

Bob Masina General Manager, Technology and Operations

Katrina Stuart Head of Engagement

Robert McKinnon Chair (Independent)

Elizabeth Hallett Director (Independent)

2021 2020
$ $

Short term benefits

- Salaries paid during current year 2,301,978 2,266,204

Long term benefits

- Superannuation paid during current year 125,028 118,801

Adjustment to prior year

2,427,006 2,385,005
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Note 5: Auditor’s Remuneration
Consolidated Group
2021 2020

$ $

Auditors of the Group - Grant Thornton Australia Limited 

Remuneration of the auditor for:

- auditing or reviewing the financial statements 56,600 45,000

- taxation services

- other non audit services

56,600 45,000

Other Auditors - Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited 

Remuneration of the auditor for:

- auditing or reviewing the financial statements - 6,165

- taxation services

- other non audit services

6,165
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Note 6: Cash and Cash Equivalents

Consolidated Group
Note 2021 2020

$ $

Cash at bank and on hand 17,564,928 5,844,790

Short-term bank deposits 25,015,384 15,764,865

Other deposits at bank - 10,000,000

18 42,580,312 31,609,655

Reconciliation of cash

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of 
the financial year as shown in the statement 
of cash flows is reconciled to items in the 
statement of financial position as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents 42,580,312 31,609,655

42,580,312 31,609,655

The cash and cash equivalents balance is held by Commonwealth Bank of 
Australia (CBA), a shareholder in the Company. The interest income received on 
this balance of $131,379 is included in the Statement of comprehensive income.

The Parent held $10 million as a Vendor Contract Contingency in the 
2020 Financial Year, which was quarantined as a financial buffer so the 
shareholders are able to wind up the Group and/or exit the vendor should 
circumstances require.
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Note 7: Trade and Other Receivables
Consolidated Group

Note 2021 2020
$ $

CURRENT

Trade receivables 276,444 97,122

Provision for expected credit losses (6,000) (486)

Interest Receivable 6,716 34,133

GST Refundable/(Payable) 128,533 86,557

Total current trade and other receivables 405,693 217,326

A retrospective reallocation of cash and cash equivalents has been applied 
to the Group’s prior period comparative information to reclassify interest 
receivable to Trade and Other Receivables.

(a) Financial assets at amortised cost classified 
as trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables

— Total Current 405,693 217,326

— Total Non-Current

405,693 217,326

Financial assets as trade
and other receivables 18 405,693 217,326
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Note 8: Property, Plant and Equipment
Consolidated Group
2021 2020

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Plant and equipment:

$ $

At cost 196,207 184,739

Accumulated depreciation (111,346) (82,102)

Total plant and equipment 84,861 102,637

Total property, plant and equipment 84,861 102,637

Note 9: Right-of-use assets
The Group’s lease portfolio only consists of a non-cancellable property lease 
with a 5 year term, with rent payable monthly in advance. There were no 
extension or termination options excercisable by the Company. Rental provisions 
within the lease agreement require that the minimum lease payments shall be 
increased by 4% per annum at each anniversary date.

Consolidated Group 
2021 2020

$ $

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 

Leased building 

Accumulated depreciation 

Total right-of-use asset

753,148 753,148

(679,068) (530,907)

74,080 222,241
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Note 10: intangible Assets
Consolidated Group
2021 2020

$ $

NPP Software and Infrastructure

At cost 82,340,510 82,340,510

Accumulated amortisation (26,755,026) (18,520,975)

Net carrying amount 55,585,484 63,819,535

Debit Initiative (MPS)

At cost 12,182,596 7,478,888

Accumulated amortisation

Net carrying amount 12,182,596 7,478,888

Trademarks and licences

At cost 1,320

Accumulated amortisation (124)

Net carrying amount 1,196

Total intangible assets 67,769,276 71,298,423

Reconciliations
Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the 
current and previous financial year are set out below:

Consolidated

NPP
Software and 
Infrastructure

Debit
Initiative

(MPS)
Trademarks 

and licences Total

Balance at 1 July 2019 72,053,586 3,564,195 - 75,617,781

Additions - 3,914,693 - 3,914,693

Amortisation expense (8,234,051) - - (8,234,051)

Balance at 30 June 2020 63,819,535 7,478,888 - 71,298,423

Additions - 4,703,708 1,320 4,705,028

Amortisation expense (8,234,051) - (124) (8,234,175)

Balance at 30 June 2021 55,585,484 12,182,596 1,196 67,769,276
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The Group identifies a single cash-generating unit (‘CGU’) and, therefore, 
the recoverable amount has been determined at the group level.

The recoverable amount of the Group’s NPP Software and Infrastructure 
and Debit Initiative (MPS) has been determined by value-in-use calculations.
The calculations use cash flow projections based on the business plan approved 
by management covering a five year period. Cash flows beyond the five year 
period are extrapolated using the estimated growth rates stated below.

The following key assumptions were used in the discounted cash flow model:

a. Pre-tax discount rate of 11.8% (2020:12.6%)
b. Projected growth rate of 0% (2020: 0%) beyond five year period for 

the CGU; and
c. Increase in operating costs and overheads based on current expenditure 

levels adjusted for inflationary increases.

For the financial year ended 30 June 2021, the recoverable amount of net 
assets for the Group is greater than the carrying value of the assets and 
therefore, the NPP Software and Infrastructure and Debit Initiative (MPS) is not 
considered to be impaired.

Sensitivity Analysis:
Management estimates that any reasonable changes in the key assumptions 
would not have a significant impact on the value-in-use of the CGU that 
would require the assets to be impaired.

Note 11: Other Assets
Consolidated Group
2021

$
2020

$

CURRENT

Prepaid Expenses 11,887,107 11,752,514

Accrued Revenue 187,500

Total Current Other Assets 12,074,607 11,752,514
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Note 12: interest in Subsidiaries
a. Information about Principal Subsidiaries

The subsidiary listed below has share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares, 
which are held directly by the Parent. The proportion of ownership interests held 
equals the voting rights held by the Parent.

Ownership 
interest held by 

the Group

Proportion of 
non-controlling 

interests

Name of subsidiary
2021

(%)
2020

(%)
2021

(%)
2020

(%)
Industry Committee Administration Pty Ltd 100% 100% 0% 0%

There are no significant restrictions over the Group’s ability to access or use 
assets, and settle liabilities, of the Group.

Note 13: Trade and Other Payables
Consolidated Group

Note 2021 2020
$ $

CURRENT

Unsecured liabilities

Trade payables 542,097 41,557
Sundry payables and accrued expenses 5,162,371 2,166,489
Employee Entitlements 557,285 272,778

6,261,753 2,480,824

NON-CURRENT

Unsecured liabilities

Sundry payables and accrued expenses - 11,679
Employee Entitlements 66,098 196,368

66,098 208,047

Note 2021 2020
$ $

(a) Financial liabilities at amortised cost
classified as trade and other payables

Trade and other payables

- Total Current 549,628 44,400
- Total Non-Current - -

549,628 44,400

Financial liabilities as trade 
and other payables 18 549,628 44,400
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Note 14: Contract Liabilities
Consolidated Group
2021 2020

$ $

CURRENT

Fixed Contribution Operating Revenue - 1,291,950

Committee Participation Revenue 1,088,378 -

Connected Institution/
Participation Application Revenue 220,500 -

Ticket Revenue 63,000 -

Sponsorship Revenue 54,558 -

Total Current Contract Liabilities 1,426,436 1,291,950

Note 15: Lease Liabilities
Consolidated Group
2021 2020

CURRENT

Unsecured liabilities at amortised cost:

$ $

Lease Liabilities 84,927 178,229

Total Current Lease Liabilities

NON-CURRENT

Unsecured liabilities at amortised cost:

84,927 178,229

Lease Liabilities - 84,927

Total Non-Current Lease Liabilities - 84,927

Total Lease Liabilities 84,927 263,156
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Note 16: issued Capital

134,800 {2020:134,800)
fully paid redeemable preference shares

(a) Redeemable Preference Shares

At the beginning of the reporting period 

Shares Issued

At the end of the reporting period

Consolidated Group 
2021 2020

$ $

134,800,000 134,800,000

134,800,000 134,800,000

2021 2020
No. No.

134,800 134,800

134,800 134,800

Note 17: Events After the Reporting Period
On 10 December 2020, NPP Australia Limited executed an Implementation 
Agreement to amalgamate with BPAY Group Holding Pty Ltd and eftpos Payments 
Australia Limited under a holding company (Australian Payments Plus Ltd), with 
the principal condition precedent to completion of the amalgamation being the 
granting of ACCC merger authorisation. Final authorisation was provided by the 
ACCC on 9 September 2021.

Accordingly, pursuant to the Implementation Agreement, NPP Australia Limited 
will become a wholly-owned subsidiary of Australian Payments Plus Limited, 
with existing NPP Australia Limited shareholders (with the exception of the 
Reserve Bank of Australia) receiving shares in Australian Payments Plus Limited.

During the last financial year (for the period from 1 July 2020 to 30 June 
2021), NPP Australia has accepted one application for direct access from an 
applicant seeking to become an NPP Full Participant and issued NPPA shares 
to that applicant, who is currently seeking further regulatory approvals from 
another organisation.
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Note 18: Financial Risk Management
The Group provides the implementation framework for the NPP project.
These activities expose the Group to limited financial risks which are measured 
by the following:

a. Interest rate risk exposures
The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk and the effective weighted average 
interest rate by maturity periods is set out in the following table.

Exposures arise predominantly from the cash accounts bearing variable 
interest rates and there was no borrowing as at the balance date. The Group 
is only subject to the risk of fluctuations in the prevailing market interest rates.

Consolidated Group
Floating
interest

rate

Non
interest
bearing Total

2021

Financial Assets

Note $ $ $

Cash and cash equivalents 6 35,646,664 6,933,648 42,580,312

Trade and other receivables 7

35,646,664

405,693

7,339,341

405,693

42,986,005

Financial Liabilities

Trade and other payables 13 - (549,628) (549,628)

Lease Liabilities 15 (84,927)

(84,927) (549,628)

(84,927)

(634,555)

Net financial assets

2020

Financial Assets

35,561,737 6,789,713 42,351,450

Cash and cash equivalents 6 28,957,203 2,652,452 31,609,655

Trade and other receivables 7

28,957,203

217,326

2,869,778

217,326

31,826,981

Financial Liabilities

Trade and other payables 13 - (44,400) (44,400)

Lease Liabilities 15 (263,156)

(263,156) (44,400)

(263,156)

(307,556)

Net financial assets 28,694,047 2,825,378 31,519,425
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b. Credit risk
Credit risk is managed under the Group’s treasury policy as approved by the 
Board of Directors, including investing surplus funds in financial institutions 
that maintain a high credit rating. The Group was exposed to concentration 
risk toward Commonwealth Bank of Australia since the Group kept the 
bulk of it’s interest bearing funds at the respective institution ($35,646,664). 
Commonwealth Bank of Australia is a credit institutions with risk rating 
A+ and directors do not consider this risk to be material.

c. Liquidity risk
The Group manages liquidity risk through the annual budgeting process. 
Parent’s main source of funding in the 2021 financial year is revenue raised 
from transaction fees. Funds sourced in the 2021 financial year from the 
Subsidiary is revenue raised from administration charges.

d. Net fair value of financial assets and liabilities
The net fair value of cash and cash equivalents and non-interest bearing 
monetary financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group approximates 
their carrying amounts as they are short term in nature and the interest rate is 
in line with prevailing market rates.
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Note 19: Reconciliation of profit/(Ioss) after income 
tax to net cash flow from operating activities

2021 2020
$ $

Post Tax income for the period 4,204,176 4,001,437

Depreciation and amortisation 8,411,579 8,406,324

Non-Operating Cash Flows 88,491 99,526

Change in operating assets and liabilities:

(lncrease)/Decrease in trade and other receivables (81,297) (152,390)

(lncrease)/Decrease in prepayments (134,593) (9,800)

(lncrease)/Decrease in current 
and deferred tax assets (3,768,129) (3,613,617)

lncrease/(Decrease) in trade and other payables 507,527 (419,787)

lncrease/(Decrease) in accruals & sundry payables 2,789,885 1,350,607

lncrease/(Decrease) in provisions 154,068 166,013

lncrease/(Decrease) in deferred tax liabilities 3,754,749 3,613,617

Net cash generated operating activities 15,926,456 13,441,930
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NPP AUSTRALIA LIMITED 
AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITY 
ABN: 68 601 428 737 
DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION

In accordance with a resolution of the directors of NPP Australia Limited, 
the directors of the Company declare that:

1. the financial statements and notes are in accordance 
with the Corporations Act 2001 and:
a. comply with Australian Accounting Standards; and
b. give a true and fair view of the financial position 

as at 30 June 2021 and of the performance for 
the year ended on that date of the Company;

2. in the directors’ opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe 
that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they 
become due and payable;

3. the directors have been given the declarations required by section 
295A of the Corporations Act 2001 from the Chief Executive Officer 
and Chief Financial Officer.

On behalf of the Directors

R McKinnon A Lovney
Chief Executive OfficerChair

Date: 16 September 2021 
Sydney
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Grant Thornton
Level 17, 383 Kent Street 
Sydney NSW 2000

Correspondence to:
Locked Bag Q800 
QVB Post Office 
Sydney NSW 1230

T +61 2 8297 2400 
F +61 2 9299 4445 
E info.nsw@au.ot com 
W www.grantthornton.com.au

Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Members of NPP Australia Limited

Report on the audit of the financial report

Opinion

We have audited the financial report of NPP Australia Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries (the Group), which 
comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2021, the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows 
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies, and the Directors’ declaration.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

a giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2021 and of its performance for the year 
ended on that date; and

b complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We are 
independent of the Group in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting 
Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including 
Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd ACN 130 913 594 www.grantthornton.com.au
a subsidiary or related entity of Grant Thornton Australia Ltd ABN 41 127 556 389

'Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients 
and/or refers to one or more member firms, as the context requires. Grant Thornton Australia Ltd is a member firm of Grant Thornton International 
Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a separate legal entity. Services are 
delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate one 
another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. In the Australian context only, the use of the term ‘Grant Thornton’ may refer to 
Grant Thornton Australia Limited ABN 41 127 556 389 and its Australian subsidiaries and related entities. GTIL Is not an Australian related entity to 
Grant Thornton Australia Limited.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.
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Information other than the financial report and auditor’s report thereon

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 
Group’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2021, but does not include the financial report and our auditor’s report 
thereon.

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors’ for the financial report

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001. The Directors’ responsibility also includes 
such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true 
and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 
Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing 
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of this financial report.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing and Assurance 
Standards Board website at: http://www.auasb.aov.au/auditors responsibilities/ar3.pdf. This description forms part of our
auditor's report.

Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd 
Chartered Accountants

M R Leivesley
Partner - Audit & Assurance

Sydney, 16 September 2021

68 | NPP Australia Limited

http://www.auasb.aov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar3.pdf


1

NPP AUSTRALIA LIMITED 
AND UTS CONTROLLED ENTITY 
ABN: 68 601 428 137 
Financial Report For The Year Ended 
30 June 2021

_______________________



PAGES 85 to 105 - INTENTIONALLY BLANK

54854518 1


	3. Proforma NOTICE OF LODGMENT for ACT 3 of 2021
	Non-Confidential - affidavit of Robert Ian Milliner 19 November 2021 (unsworn)

